IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. 93,165 TFB No. 97-11,980(20D)

Complainant,

VS.

DANIEL PETER FEINBERG,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Stephen Christopher Whalen Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 651941

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1996, the State of Florida charged Alto Blanding, Jr., (hereinafter "Blanding") with the sale and possession with intent to sell cocaine, State of Florida v. Alto Blanding, Jr., Charlotte County Circuit Case #96-747CF-DCC and 96-748CF-DCC. Blanding's defense attorney in this matter was Paul Sullivan, Esq. (hereinafter "Sullivan"). At that time, Respondent, was an assistant state attorney in the State Attorney's Office for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit (hereinafter "State Attorney's Office").

In or about April 1997, Blanding contacted Dale Ritchart, a detective with the Charlotte County Sheriff's office who was assigned to a Drug Enforcement Agency (hereinafter "DEA") task force. Blanding offered to provide information concerning drug trafficking and to work as a confidential informant in exchange for pre-trial release. Blanding's communications with Mr. Ritchart took place without Mr. Sullivan's knowledge or consent.

On or about March 27, 1997, Blanding pled no contest to the charges against him and sentencing was set for May 6, 1997. Subsequent to this open plea, Ritchart contacted Respondent seeking assistance in obtaining Blanding's pre-trial release.

On May 5, 1997, the day before Blanding's scheduled sentencing hearing, Respondent met with Blanding at the Charlotte County Jail. Also present at the meeting were Mr. Ritchart and Tony Padula, an investigator with the State Attorney's Office.

Respondent was aware that Blanding was represented by Mr. Sullivan. In fact, Mr. Sullivan had previously approached Respondent to discuss the possibility of Blanding cooperating with the State Attorney's Office in exchange for a more lenient sentence. However, Respondent intentionally failed to notify Mr. Sullivan about the May 5, 1997, meeting. As a result, Mr. Sullivan was unaware that the meeting was taking place and was not present. In fact, no attorney was present as this important meeting to protect Blanding's interests. Respondent claims that Blanding told him that he had fired or was going to fire Sullivan. However, Respondent took no steps to confirm whether Blanding was still represented by Sullivan.

During this meeting, Respondent, Blanding, and Ritchart negotiated the terms of an agreement between Blanding and the State Attorney's Office. As a result of this meeting a stipulation was drafted which concerned sentencing matters on which Blanding was represented by Mr. Sullivan. Specifically, paragraph 8 of the stipulation provides for an agreement that the State would recommend that Blanding be sentenced as a habitual felony offender. (TFB Exh. 1). Respondent did not inform Mr. Sullivan that the meeting had occurred or that a Stipulation would be drafted.

On the evening of May 5, 1997, Mr. Sullivan visited Blanding in jail to discuss the sentencing hearing which was to occur the following day. During this meeting, Blanding eventually revealed that he had met with Mr. Feinberg earlier in the day and discussed

his case. Blanding told Sullivan that he had worked out a deal with Respondent and the DEA whereby he would be released prior to sentencing and would receive a sentence of house arrest.

At the sentencing hearing of the following morning, Sullivan appeared on behalf of Blanding. Thus, it was clear to Respondent that Blanding was still represented by Sullivan. However, Respondent, who attended the hearing took no steps to inform Sullivan about his meeting with Blanding. Instead, Respondent moved to continue the sentencing hearing. His purported reason for requesting the continuance was to allow the state extra time to acquire paperwork the state needed in order to request that Blanding be sentenced as a habitual felony offender. Blanding insisted on agreeing to the continuance against a bewildered Sullivan's advice. Respondent failed to tell Sullivan or the court that he had met with Blanding the previous day and would be drafting a stipulation which included provisions requiring that Blanding be sentenced as a habitual felony offender.

Sullivan, who was not sure whether to believe Blanding, over the next few weeks repeatedly asked Respondent whether he had met with Blanding. Respondent repeatedly denied having met with Blanding. Meanwhile, Respondent met with Blanding again on May 20, 1997, without notifying Sullivan, at which time the stipulation was executed.

On or about May 27, 1997, Respondent and Sullivan met in chambers with Judge

Darryl C. Casanueva. During this meeting, Respondent refused to answer Sullivan when asked whether Respondent had met with Blanding. However, subsequently, Respondent met with Sullivan and another local attorney, Thomas Marryott. During this meeting, Respondent confessed to Sullivan that he had met with Blanding on two occasions and stated "Well, you know, Paul, once in awhile as attorneys we have to lie to one another." (TT p.169; ROR p. 5).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 26, 1998, the Twentieth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "D" found probable cause as to violations of the following Rules: Rule 4-4.1(a); Rule 4-4.2; Rule 4-8.4(a); Rule 4-8.4(c); and Rule 4-8.4(d). The Florida Bar filed a Complaint in this matter on June 4, 1998. By order dated June 12, 1998, The Honorable Andrew D. Owens, Jr. was designated to appoint a referee in this matter. Judge Owens subsequently appointed The Honorable Charles E. Williams as Referee.

The Final Hearing in this matter was held on May 10, 1999, and May 27th, 1999. On June 21, 1999, the Referee issued a Report of Referee finding Respondent guilty of violating Rules 4-4.1(a) and 4-4.2 and not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d). The Referee recommended that Respondent receive a public reprimand. The Referee also recommended that costs be taxed against Respondent and that Respondent be required to write a letter of apology to Mr. Sullivan acknowledging the Referee's findings and sanctions imposed, and write a letter to the State Attorney of the Twentieth Circuit acknowledging the Referee's findings and sanctions and acknowledging lying to a fellow member of the bar regarding a pending case. The Referee recommended that Respondent provide copies of this acknowledgment letter to all Assistant State Attorneys in the Twentieth Circuit, all Assistant Public Defenders in the Twentieth Circuit, all witnesses who

testified on Respondent's behalf.

The Referee's report was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended August 20, 1999, at which time the Board voted to file a Petition for Review of the Referee's report. The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Referee's report with this Court on or about August 30, 1999.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's finding that Respondent is not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) is clearly contradicted by the record evidence and the Referee's own findings of fact. The Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand is inappropriate. A three (3) year suspension is the appropriate sanction considering the seriousness of Respondent's conduct, the record herein, the relevant case law, aggravating and mitigating factors, and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The Referee's finding that Respondent is not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) is clearly contradicted by the record evidence and the Referee's own findings of fact.

The Referee states that "the Bar counsel in its Memorandum of Law for Sanctions appears only to request the Court to consider sanctions for [Rule 4-4.1(a)] and [Rule 4-4.2]." (ROR p. 7). However it may have appeared to the Referee, it was certainly not the Bar's intent to limit the Referee's consideration in such a way. Nowhere within the Bar's memorandum was it requested that the Referee consider sanctions only for Rules 4-4.1(a) and 4-4.2. Furthermore, the Bar's Complaint in this matter specifically alleges violation of Rules 4-4.1(a), 4-4.2, 4-8.4(a),4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d). (Bar's Complaint para. 30). Clearly, The Bar's memorandum of law is not a charging document. The memorandum was provided to the Referee as a courtesy in hope that it would assist him in making his decision regarding the appropriate sanction.

In attorney disciplinary proceedings "[a] referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support of the record.... The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions of guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly

contradicts the conclusions." <u>The Florida Bar v. Cox</u>, 718 So.2d 788, 792 (Fla. 1998). In the instant case, the Referee's conclusions of guilt as to Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c), and 4-8.4(d) are clearly contradicted by the record evidence and the Referee's own findings.

The Referee found Respondent not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a) (violate or attempt to violate the Rules), 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), and Rule 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice). These findings are clearly contradicted by the record before this Court and the Referee's own finding of fact and guilt as to Respondent's violation of Rules 4-4.1(a) (truthfulness in statements to others) and Rule 4-4.2 (communication with person represented by counsel).

The Report of Referee notes the following findings as to Rule 4-4.1(a):

[t]he Respondent has admitted to **lying** to Attorney Sullivan at least on one occasion, and the record is clear, at best the Respondent **deceived** Attorney Sullivan in reference to contact with his client on several other occasions. The **deception** either direct or indirect is evidenced by the fact that on May 6, 1997, after it was clear that Blanding had not dismissed Sullivan, and a day after Respondent made contact with Blanding, Respondent, upon seeing Sullivan in Court with Blanding, and conversing with Sullivan regarding Blanding, did not advise Sullivan of the May 5, 1997, contact, and later **denied** any improper contact with Blanding. **The record supports the Referee's contention that the Respondent did indeed lie to Attorney Sullivan, and perpetuated that lie by continued denials and continued contact with Sullivan without revelation of Respondent's contact with Blanding**.

(ROR p. 6.) (emphasis added).

As to Rule 4-4.2 the Referee found that "clearly the May 20th, 1997 meeting was

a **blatant disregard of Rule 4-4.2** since Respondent was on actual notice that Sullivan was evidently still representing Blanding." (ROR p. 6) (emphasis added).

The Referee states that his findings made as to Rules 4-4.1(a) and 4-4.2 apply to Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c), and 4-8.4(d).

Despite his findings that Respondent lied to and intentionally deceived Sullivan regarding his contacts with Blanding and that Respondent blatantly disregarded Rule 4-4.2, the Referee incongruously concluded that Respondent was not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a) (violate or attempt to violate the Rules), 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), and Rule 4-8.4(d) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice). This conclusion is clearly erroneous and is contradicted by the record and the Referee's own findings.

In order to find that an attorney acted with dishonesty, misrepresentation, deceit, or fraud, the necessary element of intent must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. The Florida Bar v. Lanford, 691 So.2d 480,481 (Fla.1997). To satisfy the element of intent, it must only be shown that the conduct was deliberate and knowing. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So. 2d 1249, 1252 (Fla.1999). Respondent has admitted that he deliberately lied to Sullivan. Whatever motives Respondent may have had for doing so, do not negate the fact Respondent deliberately and knowingly lied to Sullivan. These lies lead to the Referee's conclusion that Respondent violated Rule 4-

4.1(a) (truthfulness in statements to others). The same lies must lead to the conclusion that Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). Furthermore, the Referee's findings that Respondent lied to Sullivan and blatantly disregarded Rule 4-4.2 by meeting with Blanding show a clear violation of Rule 4-8.4(a)(violate or attempt to violate the Rules). Finally, the Referee's findings regarding Respondent's misconduct in this matter clearly describe conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, a violation of Rule 4-8.4(d).

A referee's legal conclusions are subject to broader review by this Court than are findings of fact. The Florida Bar v. Beach, 675 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1996). Upon review, this Court will find that the Referee's conclusions of guilt as to Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) are clearly erroneous and contradicted by the record and the Referee's own findings of fact.

ISSUE II: A three (3) year suspension is the appropriate sanction considering the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct, the record herein, the relevant case law, aggravating and mitigating factors, and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

In <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985), this Court found that it was a violation of the former Disciplinary Rule prohibiting communication on the subject of

representation with a represented party for a prosecuting attorney to interview a defendant represented by counsel without notice to defense counsel. The Court found this to be true even when the defendant requests or acquiesces to the interview. <u>Id</u>. at 1206. The prohibition on communication with represented parties recognizes the inherent disadvantage of a layperson conducting negotiations with opposing counsel.

Indeed, it can be argued that the prohibition against communication with a represented individual is even more important in the criminal context than in civil cases. A prosecutor 'has more direct power over the lives, property and reputations of those in [his] jurisdiction than anyone else in this nation...'. In light of the prosecutor's tremendous power and the fundamental individual rights at stake in criminal prosecutions, 'the character, quality, efficiency of the whole [criminal justice] system is shaped in great measure by the manner in which the prosecutor exercises his or her broad discretionary powers.'

<u>United States v. Lopez</u>, 765 F. Supp. 1433, 1449 (1991)(alterations in original)(footnotes omitted).

The discipline imposed on Respondent must correspond the serious nature of his misconduct and serve as a deterrent to others who might be inclined towards this sort of misconduct. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So.2d 983, 986 (Fla.1983), the Florida Supreme Court defined the objectives of Bar discipline as follows:

"Discipline for unethical conduct by a member of The Florida Bar must serve three purposes: First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations." (Court's emphasis).

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a format for Bar Counsel, referees, and the Supreme Court to determine the appropriate sanction in attorney disciplinary matters.

Standard 5.11(f) provides that absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances,"[d]isbarment is appropriate when a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice." Standard 5.22 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, suspension is appropriate when "a lawyer in an official or governmental position knowingly fails to follow proper procedures or rules, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or to the integrity of the legal process." Standard 6.11(b) provides that absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer "improperly withholds material information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding." Standard 6.12 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, suspension is appropriate "when a lawyer knows that false statements or documents are being submitted to the court or that material information is improperly being withheld and takes no remedial action." Standard 6.32

provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, suspension is appropriate when "a lawyer engages in communication with an individual in the legal system when the lawyer knows that such communication is improper, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or causes interference or potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding." Standard 7.1 provides that absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances, "[d]isbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system." Standard 7.2 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, "suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system."

Standard 9.22 lists several aggravating factors which may justify an increase in the degree of discipline to be imposed. However, this list is not exclusive. Standard 9.21 defines aggravation or aggravating circumstances as "any considerations or factors that may justify an increase in the degree of discipline to be imposed." The Referee found no aggravating factors in the instant case. The Bar submits that upon review this Court may find that the following aggravating factors apply:

(d) multiple offenses;

(i) substantial experience in the practice of law; and

Standard 9.3 lists several mitigating factors which may justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed. The Referee in the instant case considered the following factors in mitigation:

- (b) absence of selfish motive;
- (g) character or reputation; and
- (1) remorse

In addition, the Referee considered that Respondent lacked guidance and support from his supervisor.

The Referee's recommended discipline of a public reprimand is insufficient considering the serious nature of Respondent's misconduct. This Court has held that "a public reprimand should be reserved for isolated instances of neglect, lapses of judgment, or technical violations of trust accounting rules without willful intent." The Florida Bar v. Schultz, 712 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1998). This is not such a case. The Referee found that Respondent blatantly disregarded Rule 4-4.2 by meeting with a person known to be represented by counsel and then deliberately deceived and lied to that counsel regarding the meeting. The Referee found that Respondent's lies were deliberate, not neglectful. Furthermore, this was not a minor lapse of judgment. In fact, the Referee found that Respondent blatantly disregarded Rule 4-4.2 at a time when he was on actual notice that

Blanding was represented by counsel. (ROR p. 6). Respondent's conduct warrants suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski</u>, 702 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1997), Hmielewski received a three (3) year suspension for making deliberate misrepresentations regarding the location of medical records in a medical malpractice action. Hmielewski's client told Hmielewski that he had taken the medical records from the Mayo clinic. Because Hmielewski's client had taken the records, the clinic could not produce them when Hmielewski asked for these same records during pretrial discovery. <u>Id</u>. at 219. Hmielewski then made misrepresentations concerning the clinic's inability to produce the records when all along he knew his client had taken the records. <u>Id</u>. at 220. Hmielewski's deception came to light during a pretrial deposition of his client. <u>Id</u>.

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