IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CASE No.: 93,165

Complainant,

vs.

DANIEL PETER FEINBERG,

Respondent.

_____ /

REPLY BRIEF OF

RESPONDENT

**Arthur I. Jacobs, Esquire
Jacobs & Associates, P.A.
Post Office Box 1110
Fernandina Beach, FL 32035
(904) 261-3693
Florida Bar No.: 108249**

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee handled all matters and consequences dealing with alleged violations of Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) by Respondent. The Referee considered the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct, the record herein, the relevant case law, aggravating and mitigating factors, the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the sincerity and demeanor of the Complainant, Respondent and all other witnesses.

The Referee's Report should be affirmed and the discipline as recommended should be applied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The Referee handled all matters and consequences dealing with alleged violations of Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) by Respondent.

Rule 3-7.7(c)(5), Procedures before Supreme Court of Florida of the Rules of Discipline of the Florida Bar, require the following:

“Burden. Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a Referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified.”

This court held in The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504, that in a Referee trial of prosecution for professional misconduct, The Florida Bar has the burden of proving its accusations by clear and convincing evidence. The Court further held that the Supreme Court’s review of the Referee’s findings of fact in prosecution for professional misconduct is not in the nature of a trial de novo; the responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in evidence is placed with the Referee. And this Court determined that findings of fact in prosecution for professional misconduct should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. In reviewing a Referee’s recommendation for discipline, in Niles this Court stated that the scope of review is broader than that afforded to findings of fact; however, such recommendation is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence.

The Florida Bar has not met any or all of these requirements and the Referee's report should stand as filed.

The Honorable Charles E. Williams appointed by this Court held hearings in this matter on May 10, 1999 and May 27, 1999. He heard twenty-eight (28) witnesses, including the Complainant and Respondent. This constituted four hundred sixty-five (465) pages of record plus all documents submitted.

The Referee is uniquely qualified to have heard this case. Prior to taking the bench, he was an assistant public defender for over ten (10) years and a private defense lawyer for approximately four (4) years. During these hearing days, he had the opportunity to evaluate the demeanor of the Respondent and the sincerity of the numerous character witnesses who have testified on his behalf.

The Florida Bar, as they did in the Referee hearing, asks this Court to, as the Referee states, give the Respondent the professional death penalty. Surely their recommendation would end Respondent's career.

The Respondent accepts in its totality the Report and recommendations of the Referee.

As to whether the Respondent is guilty or not guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) was handled very judiciously by the Referee. The Referee noted that the findings made as to Count I and Count II would apply to these counts. The

Referee noted that if this Court finds Respondent guilty of any or all of these remaining counts, the Referee's recommendation as to punishment would not change.

ISSUE II: The Referee considered the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct, the record herein, the relevant case law, aggravating and mitigating factors, the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and the sincerity and demeanor of the Complainant, Respondent and all other witnesses.

The Florida Bar offers the following cases for their position. The severity of misconduct and circumstances in each case is extraordinarily greater than that of Respondent and yet the Florida Bar seeks to impose the death penalty upon this young man's career. In Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985), this Court held among other things in affirming guilt of a criminal defendant that the prosecuting attorney's violation of disciplinary rules by interviewing the Defendant without notifying defense counsel did not require suppression of the Defendant's statements. The Florida Bar puts forth this case to condemn Respondent because of the statement that it is a violation of disciplinary rule prohibiting communication on the subject of representation with party known to be represented by different lawyer even though lawyer requests or acquiesces to interview.

Suarez while being pursued after a convenience store robbery killed a Deputy Sheriff. He was convicted of first degree murder.

The Defendant wanted to talk to the authorities to clear himself. He waived his Miranda rights. He specifically stated he wanted to talk without his attorney. The assistant prosecutor attorney did little except listen to the Defendant and take notes.

The Respondent in this case before the Court:

1. Asked Blanding if Sullivan was still his lawyer, quite different than the prosecuting attorney in Suarez.
2. On both occasions after asking Blanding if Sullivan was still his attorney, to which Blanding responded “no” on both May 5th and May 20th, Respondent asked Blanding if he wished an attorney to be appointed for him. On both occasions Blanding responded “no”.
3. In the instant case, Blanding stated unequivocally that he had fired his attorney on both the May 5th and May 20th occasion. This was supported by his mother’s statement affirming this as well. (Tr. p.215)(Tr. p.232) This is extraordinarily different than the facts of the Suarez case.

In The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski, 702 So.2d 218 (Fla. 1997), Hmielewski hid medical records and then represented that Mayo Clinic could not produce them and was sentenced to a three (3) year suspension for making deliberate misrepresentations

regarding the location of the records.

Hmielewski acted on his own with no supervision, Respondent consulted and was supervised every step of the way. Hmielewski cost Mayo Clinic \$26,189.00, Respondent cost no one anything and the Defendant was not injured. In Hmielewski, Mayo did not know there was a misrepresentation and in Respondent's case, Sullivan knew almost immediately that Respondent had met with his client and concealed this from Respondent. Hmielewski tried to trick Mayo Clinic to his client's benefit. Respondent had no such trickery planned. In Hmielewski, there is no evidence of his remorse because of his conduct. Respondent's remorse was evident and unrefuted.

In The Florida Bar v. Broida, 574 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1991), the hearing officer recommended suspension for one year for Broida. Broida raised and filed frivolous claims and counter claims against various Plaintiffs. Broida noticed depositions of non-parties and did not follow the proper procedures, he provided insufficient notice for all hearings, he continuously misrepresented facts to the Court, he personally attacked the integrity of multiple lawyers and judges with whom he had come into contact with and he unnecessarily delayed the court actions and proceedings by filing frivolous pleadings. This repeated conduct is distinguishable in that Respondent's conduct is singular and isolated.

A Referees findings are presumed to be correct and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Neely, 502 So.2d 1237, 1238 (Fla. 1987).

This Court affirmed the hearing officers report in spite of Broida's continuing pattern and course of conduct in engaging in ex parte communications with the Courts. Respondent was involved in a single isolated incident. The testimony from the numerous witnesses on his behalf was that he was always truthful before and continues to be for the past two years since this incident. All of these facts are unrefuted.

In The Florida Bar v. Rood, 569 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1990), Rood received a one year suspension for concealing the existence of his expert's memorandum from the opposing party. Rood answered interrogatories with falsehood regarding germane points to be filed with the Court. Rood misrepresented in drafting answers to the interrogatories which were to be filed in Court about material facts. Rood advised material witness to destroy evidence. The Defendant then sued Rood and got a judgment . The Florida Bar then sought his disbarment.

The Referee found (a) dishonest or selfish motive (b) a pattern of misconduct (c) was not remorseful for his conduct (d) substantial experience in law practice (e) causing his clients to commit perjury. Among the mitigating factors was the passage of time after the incident with no similar conduct. The Florida Bar sought disbarment. The hearing

officer recommended one year suspension and this Court affirmed.

The facts of Rood are easily distinguishable. The Respondent had no selfish or dishonest motive. The Respondent was relatively new in the practice of law. Respondent never encouraged anyone to commit perjury as did Rood.

However among the mitigating factors for Rood to receive a one year suspension was the passage of time from the incident. In the present case, Respondent has no incidents what so ever in two (2) years from this incident. He has actually tried other cases with Sullivan. Interestingly enough, Sullivan has not asked that he be removed from any of these cases and no incidents of any kind have been reported by anybody.

In The Florida Bar v. Niles, 644 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that in reviewing a Referees recommendations for discipline, the scope of review is broader than that afforded to findings of fact because it is our responsibility to order the appropriate punishment. The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 538 So.2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989). However, a Referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165, 1168 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1992). Niles (1) lied to prison officials and his client; (2) lied by denying receipt of a \$5,000.00 fee and only after negotiations with the Assistant State Attorney did Niles deliver a \$5,000.00 check to the County of Volusia and then that check was

returned for insufficient funds; (3) Niles failed to advise his client of the planned interview on a television program “A Current Affair” and thus obtained the interview of his client without her informed consent. In that interview, Niles’ client was cast in an exploitative and negative manner.

Niles acquired a proprietary interest in his client’s case by contracting with “A Current Affair” to receive a \$5,000.00 fee in return for an interview with his client. Niles villainous conduct as recommended by the Referee was one year suspension. Such reprehensible conduct is easily distinguished from Respondent’s isolated incident.

In The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 561So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1990), the Supreme Court imposed a six-month suspension rather than a one-year suspension recommended by the Referee due to an absence of a prior disciplinary record and numerous affidavits and letters attesting to this honesty and credibility. Many witnesses attested to Respondent’s honesty, integrity and credibility as well in this case.

Mr. Colclough lied to two lawyers and a judge about a hearing that actually had not been held.

In The Florida Bar v. Shapiro, 413 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1982), Shapiro received a 91 day suspension:

1. Shapiro communicated an offer of settlement directly to an adverse party knowing that this party was represented by counsel;

2. Shapiro was under the care of a psychiatrist and he was incapable of practicing law;
3. He placed trust funds belonging of his clients in his general account;
4. He paid salary to employees of his legal clinic based on how much money the legal clinic received in fees;
5. He elected a non-lawyer as secretary of his legal clinic under which he was practicing law under a trade name.

Respondent has been forthcoming and forth right about his conduct. He approached the Florida Bar in his letter of June 27, 1997 about his actions. He has been and remains active in his role without incident.

In The Florida Bar v. Burkich-Burrell, 659 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1995), this court adopted the recommendations of the Referee for a thirty day suspension.

Although Ms. Burkich was evasive at the hearing and sought to minimize and avoid her lapses by blaming a non-lawyer and she refused to acknowledge responsibility for her conduct, she was found guilty of five (5) charges of misconduct including unlawfully obstructing another lawyers access to evidence she knew or should have known was relevant to the pending proceedings. She knowingly made a false statement of material fact to a third party and she was involved in dishonesty, fraud and deceit and misrepresentation. Since all of these things regarded her husband, she stood to gain

personally as she represented him in these law suits.

In The Florida Bar v. Nunes, 661 So.2d 1202 (Fla. 1995), a ten (10) day suspension and eighteen (18) months of supervised probation for knowingly communicating with a represented person without the consent of opposing counsel. This was recommended by the Referee and confirmed by this Court. Nunes accomplished this communication by copying a letter he wrote to opposing counsel to the opposing counsel's clients. He criticized opposing counsel's handling of the case and said he believed opposing counsel had breached ethical standards of the Florida Bar. The Referee stated he reviewed the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions as well as applicable case law as did the Referee in this case. He also found three aggravating factors:

1. Submission of false evidence, false statements or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary proceedings;
2. Refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of his conduct;
3. Substantial experience on the practice of law.

The Referee found no mitigating circumstances. In this case, the Referee found mitigating circumstances. Respondent was supervised and followed the advice of his superior. Numerous character witnesses stated that this was an unusual event. They testified as to his high character and truthfulness. The Referee found that the Respondent

was remorseful and that he had no selfish motive.

In The Florida Bar v. Kravitz, 694 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1997), Kravitz made false statements and submitted false documents to the Court. He lied about the names of the individuals being held in contempt by the Court and misrepresented the amounts of monies in his trust account. For all this, he received a thirty (30) days suspension. This Court said this was appropriate because of the fact that there has been no showing of the prior disciplinary infractions by Kravitz and by the fact that the Referee recommended probation.

There have been no other disciplinary infractions before this incident and none in over two (2) years since.

The Referee had the same recommendation of penalty that the Bar puts forward once again. The Referee considered all case law and standards including The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983 (1983). First, judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty;

Second, the judgment must be fair to the attorney, being sufficient to punish the breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation;

Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter other who might be prone to like violations.

We agree with the Referee that the public does not need to be protected from the Respondent. The public would be denied the services of this lawyer, but for this incident, all witnesses say has done and is doing an excellent job. Further demonstration of that is that he has maintained this level of performance even with the spectre of this investigation hanging over him. Included in this performance have been other trials with Sullivan, the Complainant.

For over two (2) years Respondent has displayed reformation and rehabilitation. He has been remorseful from the beginning. He has been forth right as to his conduct. It is uncontroverted that his conduct was an aberration and would not occur again. The Referee felt strongly and with confidence about this fact.

Respondent agrees the monetary penalties are substantial. The most burdensome and damaging aspect of the punishment is the public reprimand and the letters of acknowledgment.

His law degree was difficult to achieve and only after tremendous effort financially was this accomplished. He is a career prosecutor. This incident for which he remains remorseful has severely damaged his standing in the community and legal profession. Personally, this cloud has hung over him and his family for over two years. Its toll is inestimable.

CONCLUSION

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